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Food for Thought

Can Lender Shift Obligation for Transfer Taxes to Bidder?

HIS SOUNDS like a crushingly

mundane topic, of the variety to

repose in the pile labeled "I know

it must be important but I'll get to it
some day.” Assuming it is to be believed
when the writer offers the opinion, the sub-
ject is neither pedantic nor a soporific; rather
it has genuine practical significance in the
everyday world of mortgage foreclosure.
While the portent is concededly less monu-
mental for perhaps a single $100,000 residen-
tial foreclosure, it has more meaning across a
broad portfolio of defaulted loans and for
commercial cases where the bid price could
be $5 million or $50 million or more.

The inquiry is this. Should a foreclosing
lender be able to shift the obligation to pay
transfer taxes to a successful foreclosure sale
bidder, so long as that obligation appears in
the terms of sale (which are first recited prior
to bidding and then signed by the bidder)?
Although the proposition that the lender
should be so able is too obvious to create a
stir almost anywhere, there is some negative
reaction to it in Queens County, which has
generated an unreported decision condemn-
ing the procedure. (Home Savings of America
v. Vonkrusenstierna, short form order, Oct. 17,
1995, Index No. 775/93). Although unreport-
ed, the existence of this case is known in

Queens far more prominently than its unre-
ported status would suggest.

Lender’'s View

From a lender's perspective, such a resulit
is bitterly ironic. A borrower's default is im-
mediately an expensive and vexatious prob-
lem. When foreclosure ensues, the process
can be tortuous and time consuming. The
goal at the conclusion is to sell the property
for the highest price, a sum, it is hoped,
which will make the lender whole. One way
to render the bidding more enticing, with less
room for confusion about numbers, is to re-
move from the foreclosing plaintiff the obli-
gation to pay the transfer tax of $4 per
thousand dollars of consideration and in New
York City, the applicable real property trans-
fer tax of 1 percent. In that way, the plaintiff
can compute its upset price, safe in the
knowledge that if the bidding goes that far,
the net proceeds can be clearly determined
in advance.

Even if all this is a mere convenience for
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beyond. If the controversy is ill-founded, as is
the view here, perhaps it can and should be
dispelled.

It would be highly unusual for a judgment
of foreclosure and sale to contain a decretal
paragraph as to payment of real estate trans-
fer taxes. The subject is one of those areas
simply and customarily left unstated — such
as the time of the auction sale, or the amount
of the bid deposit, or the place and time of
the closing, among others. In other words,
the court does not write the contract (the
terms of sale). Indeed, statute offers only a
barebones framework for the judgment of
foreclosure and sale. RPAPL §1351(1) merely
provides that the judgment shall direct that
the mortgaged premises, or so much as suffi-
cient to discharge the mortgage debt plus
cost and expenses and which can be sepa-
rately sold without material injury to interest-

.ed parties, be sold under the direction of the
sheriff of the county, or a referee.? Further
guidance is found in RPAPL 81354 (Distribu-
tion of Proceeds of Sale) and RPAPL §1371
(Deficiency Judgment.) Case law provides ad-
ditional direction,® but hardly a comprehen-
sive guide.

If the judgment of foreclosure and sale is
silent as to transfer taxes, how might the
signed terms of sale which obligate a bidder
to pay those taxes be condemned? Before
answering the question (and then critiquing
that answer), appreciating what foreclosing
plaintiffs always assumed or anticipated will
be helpful.

To be sure, transfer tax statutes impose the
obligation to pay taxes upon the grantor or
transferor.! Because the referee at a foreclo-
sure sale executes and delivers the deed,
such officer fits the definition of “grantor” or
“transferor.”’s Otherwise bound to pay the
transfer tax, the referee promulgates terms of
sale which are mutually signed by the referee
and the foreclosure sale bidder/purchaser.
The purchaser thereby memorializes assent
to the terms first orally announced.

Terms of Sale

The precise nature of the terms of sale is
somewhat elusive. It has been referred to as a
contract with the court,$ although it has also
been viewed as a proceeding by which the
successful bidder submits himself to the ju-
risdiction of the court as to all matters con-
nected with the sale and purchase of the
property.” The most recent case to contem-
plate the issue rather clearly treated the
terms of sale as a contract.?

The referee, bound by the statute to pay
transfer taxes, enters into what, in some
sense at least, is a contract. And as a general
proposition, so long as not against public
policy, a contract can vary the terms that
statute would otherwise impose.? Real estate
contracts of sale will frequently shift the obli-
gation to pay transfer taxes to the purchaser
and the practice is unassailable. In the in-
stance of a foreclosure sale, that also seemed
to be the aphorism and case law supported it.
Prior to the unreported case in Queens Coun-

ty previously mentioned,'® the only judicial
discussion of transfer tax liability in this con-
text tacitly accepted the efficacy of a contract
to rearrange the tax payment burden:

Where the written contract between the
referee and the highest bidder does not
contain an agreement that the purchaser
will pay the tax ... the referee has the
obligation to pay such taxes out of the
proceeds of the sale.”!!

The lucid implication, of course, is that a
contract could obligate the purchaser to pay
the transfer tax — just what lenders always
believed and relied upon.

Not incidentally, in 1989 the applicable
state statute (Tax L. §1404) was amended to
provide joint and several liability for the tax
upon both grantor and grantee.!2 That a pur-
chaser could thus be a party liable to pay tax
thereby banished whatever drama or per-
ceived uniqueness the concept may have
had. This lends ready support to the proposi-
tion that a contract can validly require a pur-
chaser to pay a transfer tax.

Queens Decision

Mindful of the underpinning for traditional
notions that foreclosing plaintiffs expect to
exclude transfer tax payments from the sale
proceeds they receive, what assault emerges
from the differing position in Queens County?
That lone case '3 seems to endorse the argu-
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ment of a foreclosure sale purchaser seeking
to disavow its contractual obligation to pay
the transfer tax, to the effect that the terms of
sale are void as contrary to the judgment. But
the terms of sale were not contrary to the
judgment. Rather, they addressed a factor not
dealt with in the judgment.

Again, this is not unlike the instance of the
contract deposit. The judgment is silent on
that subject too, but the terms of sale typical-
ly require a 10 percent deposit and no court
finds this violative of the judgment of foreclo-
sure and sale. Even though 10 percent is cus-
tomary (a judgment’s silence
notwithstanding), a demand for 25 percent
can be appropriate if circumstances war-
rant.' That too does not run afoul of any
argument that it varies the dictates of the
judgment. Similarly, even though a judgment
will not specify the form of bid deposit, a
referee can demand a deposit in cash, ' free
of condemnation that he is varying the terms
of the judgment.

The next point of the Queens decision is
the mantra that a referee serves in a ministe-
rial capacity and lacks power to vary the
terms of the court's judgment. That is, of

course, entirely correct and in the case exam-

ples relied upon 's the referee did indeed
vary the terms of the judgment. In Ercolani v.
Sam and Al Realty Co.!" for example, the
referee paid taxes and liens which the judg-
ment decreed the premises were to be sold
“subject to.”

A similar, clear defalcation occurred in the
other case relied upon, Crisona v. Macaluso.®
There, the judgment specifically required the
referee to pay taxes, assessments and water
rates which were a lien. The referee orally
arinounced at the sale that such taxes had to
be paid in addition to the bid price, but the
terms of sale nevertheless complied with the
judgment. Understandably, the ruling was
that the referee’s oral declaration contradict-
ed the judgment of foreclosure and sale and
was ineffectual. Critically, neither case stands
for the proposition that a term not addressed
in the judgment of foreclosure and sale, but
agreed to in writing by the bidder, can be
declared of no effect.

The next pronouncement is that a referee
may make a sale only upon terms in confor-
mity with the judgment and the applicable
statutes.!® That too is accurate, 2 but finds no
application to the subject question. Nor are
the case authorities cited by the Queens
court helpful. In Zouppas v. Yannikidou?! a
partition action, the judgment provided that
the property be sold subject to two specific
liens for which precise monetary sums were
set forth.

In the terms of sale, the referee added
“subject to lien for unpaid New York Estate
Tax and Federal Estate Tax.” This differs dis-
cernibly from the judgment. What is worse,
those purported estate tax liens were vague
and amorphous, tending to discourage bid-
ding because of uncertainty in the amounts of
those possible prior liens. The court’s con-
demnation of the referee’s liberties was ap-
propriate, but is not analogous to the transfer




tax issue.

The Queens case continues with ac-
cepted aphorisms: that the referee is a
grantor or transferor and is therefore
the party to pay the transfer tax; that
the only funds he has are sale pro-
ceeds; that failure to pay the transfer
taxes is a bar to recordation of the
referee’s deed; that the purchaser is
entitled to a recordable deed — from
all of which the court somehow con-
cluded that terms of sale obliging the
successful bidder to pay the transfer
tax are void.

Regardless of whether one finds the
decision palatable, it seems to beg the
underlying question: Is an addition to
the terms of sale on a point as to
which the judgment is otherwise si-
lent automatically subject to sanction?

Varying the terms of sale from those
prescribed in the judgment will al-
most invariably be condemned. But
supplying a missing term is, as previ-
ously discussed, hardly uncommon or
unacceptable. It is clear that where
additions to the terms of sale impose
conditions which are vague or indefi-
nite, those additions can be rejected
by a court.?

Transfer taxes, though, are hardly
vague. Rather, they are mathematical-
ly determinable and therefore do not
meet the test for condemnation.

So here is the disorder and here is
the dilemma. Foreclosing plaintiffs
suffer enough by way of detainment
and roadblocks to their efforts, in
New York State more than most other
states, and in the New York metropol-
itan area (particularly New York City)
more than in the rest of the state.

Their burdens have lately been in-
creased with the 1997 amendment of
RPAPL 81354(2) requiring all real es-
tate taxes which are a lien to be paid
out of sale proceeds. (This creates
more effort for the plaintiff, occasion-
al uncertainty if taxes cannot be pre-
cisely ascertained and perhaps a less
attractive sale as the tax amounts in-
crease the upset price.)

Refraining from including transfer
taxes in the upset price simply makes
the sale easier. Foreclosing plaintiffs
would prefer to (and have always as-
sumed they could) derive the benefit
available to any seller of property,
even though technically the plaintiff is
not the grantor — that is, to contrac-
tually shift a payment burden. Fore-
closure judgments do not address the
point, as they are silent on any num-
ber of others, and arguments that
transfer taxes are in a different cate-
gory are infrequent and problematic.

But then, that case is floating
around out there in the underground.
Foreclosing plaintiffs could achieve
certainty by inviting inclusion of a tax
shifting provision in the judgment.

That approach presents two prob-
lems though. It might impede issu-
ance of the judgment, which is
antithetical to the plaintiff’s objective.
Moreover, if this is a gray area (al-
though the argument here is that it
should not be) it opens the door to
declination by some judges (or
clerks), which would then create per-
vasive inconsistency.

And if the amounts at issue tend not
to be so large, what plaintiff will sacri-
fice the conclusion of its foreclosure
case while at the same time incurring
legal expense to convincingly estab-
lish the principal? Better that what the
Trefoil * case knew and took for
granted remains the real wisdom.
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